
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Stefan Jungcurt <stefan@iisd.org>, Dagmar Lohan, Ph.D. <dagmar@iisd.org>,
Charlotte Salpin <charlotte@iisd.org>, Nicole Schabus <nicole@iisd.org>, and Sabrina Shaw <sabrina@iisd.org>. The Digital Editor is Francis Dejon <franz@iisd.org>.
The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The
Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Government of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental
and Scientific Affairs), The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA, DFAIT and Environment Canada), the Swiss Agency for
Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development - DFID and Department for Environment
Food and Rural Affairs - DEFRA), the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through the German
Federal Ministry of Environment - BMU, and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin during 2003 is provided
by the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), the Government of Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade of New Zealand, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Norway, Swan International, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the
Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research
Institute - GISPRI), and the Ministry for Environment of Iceland. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily
reflect the views of IISD or other donors.  Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation.
For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-212-644-0217
or 212 East 47th St. #21F, New York, NY 10017, USA. 

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 9 No. 260 Thursday,13 November 2003

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiationsiis

d SBSTTA-9
#4

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/biodiv/sbstta9/

SBSTTA-9 HIGHLIGHTS:
WEDNESDAY, 12 NOVEMBER 2003

Delegates to the ninth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on 
Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice (SBSTTA-9) of 
the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) convened in 
Working Group sessions throughout the day. Working Group I 
(WG-I) addressed sustainable use, the ecosystem approach, and 
invasive alien species (IAS). Working Group II (WG-II) continued 
discussions on outcome-oriented targets, and considered Confer-
ence Room Papers (CRPs) on monitoring and indicators, and 
biodiversity and climate change.

WORKING GROUP I
SUSTAINABLE USE: Practical principles and operational 

guidance: Delegates considered recommendations on practical 
principles and operational guidance for sustainable use, including 
the draft Addis Ababa principles and guidelines (UNEP/CBD/
SBSTTA/9/9 and INF/8). ARGENTINA and BRAZIL called for 
addressing sustainable production and sustainable consumption. 
GERMANY and the UK suggested adopting the draft principles 
and the recommendations without amendment, respectively. 
AUSTRALIA stressed that sustainable use is dependent on biodi-
versity conservation. NORWAY and GERMANY proposed setting 
timeframes. MADAGASCAR requested systematizing research 
results and promoting cooperation between researchers and users. 
FINLAND proposed including a reference to other quality stan-
dards in the operational guidelines. NEW ZEALAND and 
AUSTRALIA requested referring to the “precautionary approach” 
rather than the “precautionary principle.” The EUROPEAN 
COMMUNITY (EC) agreed, under condition that reference be 
made to Rio Principle 15 (Precautionary approach).

Forest biodiversity: Delegates considered proposals for the 
prevention of losses caused by unsustainable harvesting of timber 
and non-timber forest resources (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/9/9/
Add.2), and recommendations on the management of forest biodi-
versity to derive products and services and benefit-sharing (UNEP/
CBD/SBSTTA/9/9/Add.1). CANADA and AUSTRIA suggested 
presenting the recommendations as lessons learnt, and 
GERMANY and FINLAND proposed simplifying them. INDIA 
called for promoting the long-term interests of indigenous peoples 
and ensuring fair and equitable benefit-sharing. 

Incentive measures: On proposals for ways and means to 
remove or mitigate perverse incentives (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/9/
9/Add.3 and INF/10), the UK suggested the Executive Secretary 
consider the need to further elaborate, refine and advance method-
ologies for evaluating biodiversity. ARGENTINA urged an exclu-
sive focus on the removal of perverse incentives, and MEXICO 
stressed the importance of focusing on compensatory policies. 

DEFENDERS OF WILDLIFE requested making clear, throughout 
the documents related to sustainable use, that perverse incentives 
undermine biodiversity conservation and sustainable use. 

ECOSYSTEM APPROACH: The Secretariat introduced 
guidelines on implementing the ecosystem approach and its rela-
tionship with sustainable forest management (SFM) (UNEP/CBD/
SBSTTA/9/8). Jan Plesnik, Co-Chair of the Expert Meeting on the 
ecosystem approach, presented the report of the Expert Meeting 
(UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/9/INF/4). Gil Shepherd, IUCN, proposed 
ways to implement and operationalize the principles on the 
ecosystem approach. 

GERMANY and SWEDEN suggested requesting the Execu-
tive Secretary to assess the implementation of the ecosystem 
approach for consideration by SBSTTA prior to COP-9. 
GERMANY, SLOVENIA and SPAIN suggested adding a para-
graph on the need for cross-sectoral integration of SFM, and 
CANADA and FINLAND opposed, the latter noting that SFM is 
already significantly broad. SWITZERLAND said the principles 
should only be revised if their practical application reveals such a 
need. TANZANIA felt it was premature to forward recommenda-
tions to COP-7 on certification and similar programmes that poten-
tially restrict Parties’ sovereignty. The NETHERLANDS 
suggested focusing on facilitating the application of the principles. 
The FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION (FAO) 
suggested that the CBD develop a case-based knowledge manage-
ment system. The ARAB CENTER FOR THE STUDIES OF 
ARID ZONES AND DRYLANDS stressed the need to continue 
collecting data and case studies, and to build capacity to apply the 
ecosystem approach.

INVASIVE ALIEN SPECIES: The Secretariat introduced 
documents on gaps and inconsistencies in the international regula-
tory framework related to IAS (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/9/15 and 
INF/32).  

AUSTRALIA, ARGENTINA, BRAZIL, CANADA, NEW 
ZEALAND, and the US reiterated their opposition to COP Deci-
sion VI/23 (Alien species), and asked that all references be deleted 
or footnoted throughout the document to record their reservations. 
NEW ZEALAND stressed that the Guiding Principles on alien 
species had not been adopted, and raised concerns about contradic-
tions with Rio Principle 15 and the World Trade Organization 
(WTO) Agreement on Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures. 
AUSTRALIA and NEW ZEALAND opposed recommendations 
welcoming the INF document on IAS, noting that they had had no 
time to review it prior to the meeting. NEW ZEALAND requested, 
and NORWAY and the EC opposed, removing the chapeau of the 
recommendation on trade liberalization and, supported by 
ARGENTINA, deleting references to the WTO and negotiations 
on bilateral and regional free trade agreements. BRAZIL stressed 
that the recommendations should not contain discriminatory trade 
barriers.

http://www.iisd.ca/biodiv/sbstta9/


Thursday, 13 November 2003  Vol. 9 No. 260 Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Palau, on behalf of the ASIA AND PACIFIC REGION, 
supported by NEW ZEALAND, stressed the vulnerability of island 
States to IAS and the need for a sustainable funding mechanism and 
technical support. SOUTH AFRICA requested references to unin-
tentional or opportunistic introductions, and to intentional intro-
ductions through trade in species for non-food purposes and ex situ 
conservation projects as pathways. The UK recommended harmo-
nizing the CBD and the International Plant Protection Convention 
and, with the SEYCHELLES and NORWAY, requested that pet 
trade be added as a pathway. 

The PHILIPPINES proposed that tourism be identified as a non 
trade-related activity for introducing IAS, and ARGENTINA iden-
tified several technical insufficiencies in the document. CANADA 
stressed that prevention efforts should be import-focused, and that 
risk assessments must be applied to a range of species. LIBERIA 
noted financial constraints to monitoring transboundary trade, and 
recommended strengthening regulatory mechanisms at national 
and regional levels. INDIA proposed linking CBD efforts with 
those made under the Convention on International Trade in Endan-
gered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora.

The SUNSHINE PROJECT drew attention to the relevance of 
the Biological and Toxin Weapons Convention. DEFENDERS OF 
WILDLIFE noted gaps, including unidentified inconsistencies 
between the CBD and other relevant international legal instru-
ments, and failure to addressing the risks of communicable 
diseases.

WORKING GROUP II
WG-II Chair Asghar Fazel (Iran) invited written comments on 

Chair’s texts on the synergies between the CBD and the UN Frame-
work Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), and technology 
transfer and cooperation.

OUTCOME-ORIENTED TARGETS: Regarding the Execu-
tive Summary on the integration of outcome-oriented targets into 
the CBD’s programmes of work (PoWs) (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/9/
14), FINLAND suggested disseminating work on indicators and 
targets through the Clearing-house Mechanism (CHM). 
Concerning text on maintaining biodiversity goods and services, 
ARGENTINA requested referring to the application of best prac-
tices. Noting that Parties cannot decide single-handedly on factors 
constituting threats to biodiversity, the UK requested maintaining a 
list of threats. UNEP-WCMC, on behalf of the Convention on 
Migratory Species (CMS), said the CMS will contribute to work on 
indicators. A representative of a coalition of NGOs stressed its 
readiness to contribute to developing and testing indicators, and 
supported harmonizing targets. 

In the afternoon, Chair Fazel presented a Chair’s text, inviting 
written comments in order to prepare a CRP. 

Global Strategy for Plant Conservation: The Secretariat 
introduced a document on ways to promote the implementation of 
the Global Strategy for Plant Conservation (GSPC) (UNEP/CBD/
SBSTTA/9/14/Add.2). IRELAND, BRAZIL and HAITI asked for 
guidance on developing and implementing national targets and, 
with MALAYSIA, recommended the nomination of national focal 
points. CANADA expressed concern over the practicability of 
national focal points, and supported cooperation with FAO on 
targets for agricultural biodiversity. MALAYSIA, MEXICO and 
CANADA noted that some timelines for implementation are unre-
alistic, given many Parties’ limited capacities and financial means. 
THE GLOBAL BIODIVERSITY INFORMATION FACILITY 
described its contributions to information exchange, training and 
promotion of partnerships and networks. 

In the afternoon, Chair Fazel presented a Chair’s text on the 
GSPC, inviting written comments to prepare a CRP. 

Inland water biodiversity: The Secretariat introduced a docu-
ment on outcome-oriented targets and deadlines for the implemen-
tation of the revised PoW on inland water biodiversity (UNEP/
CBD/SBSTTA/9/14/Add.1). Noting developing countries’ lack of 
monitoring capacity, MEXICO proposed that countries identify 
goals they are able to monitor. The Philippines, for the ASIA AND 
PACIFIC REGION, called for assistance for in situ conservation of 

inland water biodiversity. The UK, SWEDEN and NORWAY 
called for a review within two years. The NETHERLANDS said 
COP-7 should review the targets in relation to other PoWs. The 
RAMSAR CONVENTION stressed the need for harmonizing indi-
cators, and WWF proposed additional indicators. 

Marine and coastal biodiversity: The Secretariat presented a 
document on outcome-oriented targets for the implementation of 
the PoW on marine and coastal biodiversity (UNEP/CBD/
SBSTTA/9/14/Add.3).

The PHILIPPINES and GERMANY proposed taking into 
account regional initiatives. GERMANY suggested adding a defi-
nition of marine protected areas (PAs), and ARGENTINA and 
BRAZIL requested referring to the significant reduction of the rate 
of biodiversity loss, rather than its halt, by 2010. 

The PHILIPPINES, ARGENTINA, CUBA, INDONESIA, and 
NORWAY said the targets are too ambitious and premature, high-
lighting financial and capacity constraints to their achievements by 
2010. BRAZIL said many of the proposed goals and targets fall 
outside the CBD’s scope, and SWITZERLAND pointed to the 
excessive number of goals, targets and indicators. FINLAND, 
BRAZIL and NORWAY proposed establishing a process to further 
work on targets, with BRAZIL suggesting adopting the goals and 
activities at SBSTTA-9. FAO said process-oriented indicators are 
more realistic. 

MONITORING AND INDICATORS: Chair Fazel intro-
duced a CRP on monitoring and indicators (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/
9/WG.II/CRP.1). Regarding coordination between sets of indica-
tors within the CBD, CANADA and NEW ZEALAND suggested 
emphasizing the need to develop national-level mechanisms for 
coordination. On the collaboration between the CBD and other 
organizations for the development of indicators, the EC proposed 
adding a reference to “monitoring.” NEW ZEALAND, 
AUSTRALIA, BRAZIL and the UK objected, preferring to keep 
these concepts separate. Chair Fazel requested consultations on this 
issue, and delegates adopted the CRP with other suggested amend-
ments.

BIODIVERSITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE: In the after-
noon, the Secretariat presented a CRP on biodiversity and climate 
change (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/9/WG.II/CRP.2) incorporating 
amendments proposed by Parties in writing. The document was 
adopted with several minor amendments, including a reference to 
the reports of UNFCCC workshops on synergies and cooperation 
with other conventions and to the IUCN Man and Biosphere 
Programme. Chair Fazel suggested informal discussions on a 
proposal from PERU to refer to specific projects mitigating the 
impact of human activity.

IN THE CORRIDORS
Delegates in WG-II whipped through considering the CRP on 

biodiversity and climate change. Although there was general satis-
faction with the document, a number of delegates noted that the 
document’s impact will be minimal at most, given that it requests 
SBSTTA to merely “develop advice or guidance to promoting 
synergy,” rather than develop guidelines. 

Although discussions on IAS were expected to rouse the ghosts 
of COP-6 that have spooked biodiversity-related negotiations ever 
since, many delegates remarked the cooperative spirit of discus-
sions. Some noted that the Secretariat’s late distribution of the 
information document on IAS could have easily frustrated the good 
will. 

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY
WORKING GROUP I: WG-I will meet at 10:00 am to 

consider Chair’s texts on the ecosystem approach and IAS, and 
CRPs on PAs and mountain biodiversity. It will continue discussing 
these documents in the afternoon.

WORKING GROUP II: WG-II will convene at 10:00 am to 
remove brackets in the CRPs on biodiversity and climate change, 
and monitoring and indicators, and discuss CRPs on the GSCP, 
outcome-oriented targets, and technology transfer and cooperation. 
It will continue discussing these documents in the afternoon. 


